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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

JULIE BEAVER ,
Plaintiff,
V.

No. 09ev-2257(RCL)

JOHN MCHUGH,
Secretary of the Army,

N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

This is a Title VII case, involving allegations of naticoaigin discrimination by a
federal employerthe Department of the ArmyBefore the Court igslefendatis Motion for
Summary Judgment, Def.’s Mot. Summ|[2R], Feb. 11, 2011, anglaintiff’'s CrossMotion for
Partial Summary Judgmen®l.’s CrossMot. Summ. J. [21], Feb. 11, 2011Having carefully
considered themotions the oppositions, thereplies the entire record in this case, and the
applicable law, the Court will grant defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment and deny
plaintiff's CrossMotion for Summary Judgment. review of the background of thease, the
governing law, the parties’ arguments, and the Court’'s reasoning in resolvingatijoseents
follows.

l. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Dr. Julie Beaver,plaintiff in this casejs a physicianbornand educateth China Pl.’s
SMF [21-10] 1. In 2006, after working in varioysbs across thenited Statessheapplied for
a statistician positiowith the Department of Clinical Investigations (“DCHj) the Walter Reed
Army Medical Center.Def.’s SMF [222] /6. DCI isanorganizatiorthat supports and conducts

medical research for the benefit of the Medical Center’s patiéht§1.
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Dr. Beaver peaks English withraaccent.Pl.’s SMF [2L-10] 1. In February 2007, DCI
hired herover several other candidates, including a Korgha spoke with amccent and a few
others who spoke English without an accent. Def.’s SMR2]2IB. The record showthatDClI
is a diverse place when it comes to employment of fodeayn individuals, and it must be a
common experience to hear English spoken there waithaccent. Tree of DCI's four
departments are led by persdram other countries, includingersondrom Taiwan, Egypt, and
Jamaica. Id. 113, 4. 25% of its employees are from outside of the Ul&. The position Dr.
Beaver acceptediaspreviously held by a person from Taiwan and a person from Nigeria, both
of whom spoke English with an accerid. 5. Dr. Audrey Chang, who is herself Taiwanese
and speaks English with an accent, hired Dr. Beaver knowing that she wasdnolamnich China.
Id. §9.

As a new federal employee, Dr. Beaver’s position was probationatlyedirstyear. Id.
110. Her positionrequired frequent consultations willCI's researcherswvho would needher
statistical expertise carry out their research projectd. 112. Her positiomlso required her to
teach courses in statisticdd. The position descriptionreatedfor her position reflectghese
expectations. Among other dutiestie was requiretb train and educate researchers in various
areas, includingn the application of statistical methods, the design of research pr@edthe
use of statisticssoftware Def’'s Ex. 16 at 83, 884. She was required to engaige
consulations with researchserandto communicate and interprétose research&r statistical
results. Id.

While employed by DCI, Dr. Beaver receivedmeformal training to enhance hekills,
at DCI's expense, including training on a software program used in statestigigisis. Def.’s

SMF [222] 115. However,DCI does not offer Engliskanguage training-nor any trainingfor



that matterto acquire a skill that DCI expects its applicants to already possess at thiedinte
offers them a jobld. 116.

Several monthgassedwithout Dr. Beaver'steaching astatisticscourse. Hwever, in
July 2007, she waskeduledo teach aourse orthe use of statisticsoftware to group of non-
statisticians. Id. §18. As thedate of that course approachstighad some concerns about her
Englishlanguage abilitigswriting to Dr. Chang that her main concern was her pronunciation,
and that she planned to practice her English with another DCI employaepare forher
upcomingclass Id.

At least for the first half of Dr. Beavergrobationary period, Dr. Chang provided a
positive assessment of Dr. Beaver’'s workl. 21. Since his evaluation covered the period
from whenDr. Beaverfirst began working for DC[February 2007}o July 31, 2007it may
have includedt leastsome consideration by Dr. Chang of Dr. Beaver’'s performance as a teacher
in thecourse that began in JUADO07 although the record is uncledd.; seePl.’s Ex. C [243]

1. However, in August 200MDr. Changperformedarnother assessmengpecifically of Dr.
Beaver’s teaching skills, where she reported that Dr. Beé@vigeds practical assistance” with
respecto her “[a]bility to teach and communicdiestatistics to investigators.” Pl.’'s SMF 21
10] 13. Clearly the low ratings on this August 2007 assedsreftected Dr. Chang’s concern
that Dr. Beaver's communication skills were adversfigcting her performance as a teacher.
Def.’'s SMF [222] 120.

This poor assessment was followed by several months dwimgh various DCI
employeeseported difficulties understandigy. Beaver One such person was Dr. Mary Klote,
who was chair of the Clinical Imstigations Committee (“CIC”)Id. §24. One of Dr. Beaver’'s
duties was to report tthat committee on a regular basigl. Dr. Klote found Dr. Beaver's

“accent” “very difficult” to understandld.; Def.’s Ex. 19 at 136.Dr. Klote’'s predecessaalso
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had “great difficulty understanding” Dr. Beaver. Def.’s Ex. 1-[32.. These two employees
were not alone in having problems understanding Dr. Beaver. For ex@mphdote received a
report from Dr. Maureen M. Peterson, who also complained of haviingully understanding
Dr. Beaver. Def.’s SMF [222] 1132, 33. Other employeeseportedsimilar problemso Dr.
ChangandColonel McQueenIn October 2007, an investigator needing a statistical consultation
told Dr. Chang that she couldn’t understand Dr. BeaveDrs&@hang referred thahvestigator

to DCI's otherstatistician. Id. 25. By November 2007, Dr. Klote told Colonel McQueen &bou
Dr. Beaver's communication difficulties, and reported that other DCI employetsiimdar
problems understanding heid. 126. By that time Dr. Beaver hadegun teaching another
statistics course, so Colonel McQueen personally attended aamasfound himself unable to
understand herld. 127.

Dr. Beaveis coursehad seventeestudents, and several of those studeep®rtedthat
communication problemmterfered with their ability to learn. In evaluations submitted at the
end of the course, two students reported shatwas an ineffective speakeanother noted that
she “was verydifficult to understand,” id. §28; anotherwrote that her “accent, dimes, []
interfer[ed] with my understanding of the informationld. Dr. Chang testified that she has
never seen a DCI instructor rated so poorly on such evaluatans.

At the request o€olonel McQueenDr. Changpolled other DCI employees about Dr.
Beaver's communication abilities One persortold Dr. Chang that it was “very hard and

difficult to understand [Dr. Beaver],” and that “investigators just got lostl” 130> Others

! Plaintiff objects to this evidence on eay grounds. Pl.’s SMF [284] 130. The Court overrules this objection
which misunderstands the hearsaje. Hearsay is “a statement, other than one made by the declarant while
testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the tfutreanatter asserted.” Fed. R. Evid. 801(c).
The statemenoffered by defendaris not hearay becaus it is not offered for its truth-i.e., thatthe person who
told Dr. Chang that he had problems understanding Dr. Beateally hadproblems understanding Dr. Beaver
Rather, he statemenis offered to showthat others toldDr. Chang that they were hiag problems understanding
Dr. Beaver For the same reasons, the Court also overrules Dr. Beaver’s hearsaipiobjegarding the comments
of Dr. Sarathi Komanduri and Dr. Arn EliassoBeePl.’s SMF [2414] §30.
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including Dr. Sarathi KomandurandDr. Arn Eliassonreported similar issuesld. Dr. Chang
also received reports that problems with Dr. Beaver's communicationesbiere having an
impact onDCI apart from the impact on the studentsher courses. Thevorkload of DCI's
only other statistician, Robin Howarlad increased significantly because “several investigators
returned to see [Ms. Howard] for statistical assistance after meeting witintiffjla
unsuccessfully because of difficulty in understanding [plaintiff's] adviceHeir projects.” Id.
131

On January 4, 2008, near the end of her-ywa probationary period)r. Beaver
attended a meeting with Dr. Chang and Colonel McQueen, where she was intbanhstie
would be removed from federal servibecause her commuaition abilities were below what
was required for the job. Pl’s SMF F24l] 5. She later requested an extension of her
probationary period so that she could enroll in an English language training prodgdam.
Although Colonel McQueerwas initially receptive to Dr. Beaver's request, lbeked into
whether heiprobaticmary period could be extendedder the applicable regulatigreoncluding
that it could not. Def.’s SMF [22] 136. On January 29, 200&)r. Beaveragain met with
Colorel McQueenalongside Dr. Klote, whersherequestecEnglishlanguagetraining, while
also claiming thatthe Food and Drug Administratiomnd the National Institutes of Health
provide such training to their employeeBl.’'s SMF [2414] 9. To thisDr. Klote replied, “we
are not the FDA.” Id. The next dayColonel McQueemade the final decisioto fire Dr.
Beaver Id. §10. It is undisputed that, while various persons involved in Dr. Beaver's
termination made references to the unintelligibility of Beaver's “accent,”no one said
anything regardingernational origin. Def.’s SMF [22-2] 141.

On March 12, 2008, Dr. Beaver filed a formal complahtdiscriminationwith her

agency. Def.’s Ex. 18 at 1. In a ooednt charge, she alleged that she wsesridninated against
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by being terminated because she was Chingke Although her complaint contained a box that
could have benchecked if Dr. Beaver haalleged a discriminatory denial of training, only the
“termination” box waschecked Id. at 3. There is nothing irthe record indicating that Dr.
Beaver ever sought to amend her administrative complaint to add aafetnahing claim.

In August 2008the Department of Defense’s Civilian Personnel Management Service,
Investigations and Resolutions Divisjdreld a factfinding conference concaing Dr. Beaver’s
complaint SeeDef.’s Ex. 19 at 98. The investigator's comments during the conference confirm
that the sole matter under investigation was “why the Complainant was terrhaadedhether
that termination was based upon national origild. at 117. The investgjor considered
testimony from Dr. Beavgwho represented herself and asked questions of the other witnesses)
Dr. Chang, Colonel McQueen, and Dr. Klot€he transcripprovided to the Court shows some
passing references to Dr. Beaver’s requests for ERgligfuage trainingsee id.at 114, but the
focus of the conference was Dr. Beaver’'s charge of discriminatory terminatioh.must be
noted that e transcriptalso provides insight regarding the questionvdiether Dr. Beaver
actually hadserious problemsommunicating inEnglish asthe following selectios from her
testimonyshow:

Q: Okay. How would you describe your relationship with Dr. Chang before
thatmeeting? Say up through September.

A: Everything since (indicernible)no problem. | do whatever she ask me to
do and, and she happy about my work. When | show her my (indiscernible) she
said, Julie, all a good, all a good point. And in fact, in April and Dr. Chang told
me, Julie (indiscernible) chief of biometrics (indiscernible). | would like t®
training become a chief of biometric (indiscernible). So you know-{'so | e

mail to my former supervisor, Dr. Morris . . . in MD (indiscernible).said
(indiscernible) and she said she going to train me as a chief. | told DrisMorr
I’'m not interested in any chief. | said (indiscernible) to do my job, promogd G

14. | have, | have theraalil also.

Id. at 111.



Q: . . . When you first started working here, your standards said that you
would do about 200 consultations, is that right, statistical consultations?

A: Not 200. (indiscernible) the Pl can come to me at least one time, one
through five times.

Q: Uh-huh.

A: The project, project, not thept the, not the- Dr. Chang (indiscernible)
to come consultation come.

Q: Okay.
Id. at 116. These exchanges are typical of Dr. Beaver’s testimony during thdindicty

conference.

After this conference, the investigator found in favor of defendabt. Beaverthen
enlisted the assistance of counsald pursued an appeal of the astigator's determination
requesting a hearing before an administrative judfehe Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission*EEOC”). Following some discovery, and tbenial of the parties’ crosaotions
for summary judgment, the administrative judge scheduled an evidentianygheblowever, in
November 2009, Dr. Beaver notified the EEOC of her election, pursuant to 29 G.F.R.
1614.407(b), to file a lawsuit in fedé@ourt.

Ms. Beavetbrought suit ifederal courthat same month Compl. [1] 1, Nov. 25, 20009.
Her Complaint contains two counts. Count | is for discriminatory denial of tiuinirviolation
of Title VII. Id. at6. Count Il is for discriminatory discharged. at 7. With respect to her
discriminatory discharge clainr. Beaverallegesthat defendant discriminated against her by
removing her from federal service without adequately determining whether laamemof
speaking, or her linguistic characteristics, materially interfered vathjdb performance” and
despite the fact that her “linguistic characteristics did not materially inteieth her job

performance.” Id. at 8. Defendant never filed a motido dismiss, and the parties’ summary

Z1n October 2011, this case was tramséd by consent from the Honorable Beryl A. Howell to this Court.
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judgment motions were ripe for decision at the time that the case was trantsfahisdCourt in
October 2011.
. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure state that “[tlhe court shall grantnaty
judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any materiaidabea
movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. S&@)alscAnderson v.
Liberty Lobby, InG.477 U.S. 242, 247 (1986). The standard requires more than the existence of
somefactual dispute: “the requirement is that there begeauineissue ofmaterial fact.”
Anderson 477 U.S. at 2448 (1986). A fact is material if, under the applicable laxavcould
affect the outcome of the case.ld. A dispute is genuine if the “evidence is such that a
reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving paitl.”Also, because “[c]redibility
determinations, the weighing of the evidence, andltaeiing of legitimate inferences from the
facts are jury functions, not those of a judge,” the “evidence of thenomant is to be believed,
and all justifiable inferences are to be drawn in his favat.’at 255.

A norrmoving party, however, must ebtsh more than “the existence of a scintilla of
evidence” in support of its positionld. at 252. Furthermore, itmay not rely solely on
allegations or conclusory statemeng&ee Greene v. Daltpd64 F.3d 671, 675 (D.C. Cir. 1999).
To avoid summary judgment, the Roroving party must present specific facts thatld enable
a reasonable jury to find in its favorld. However, if the evidence presented is “merely
colorable, or is not significantly probative, summary judgment may be grandediérson 477

U.S. at 249-50.



1. THE PARTIES’ MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
A. Legal Standards

1. Title VII

Under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, it is an “unlawful employmeragtice”
for employers “to discriminate against any individual with respect to his comp@msterms,
conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual’s race, colgigrgkex,
or national origin.” 42 U.S.C. § 200@&a)(1). Ordinarily, courts examinditle VIl claims
under the burdeshifting framework ofMcDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greell U.S 792
(1973). However, wher@as herelan “employer hassserted a legitimate, naliscriminatory
reason for the decision, . . . the district court must resolve one central questidhe leaployee
produced sufficient evidence for a reasonable jury to find that the employer'sedssen
discriminatory reasowas not the actual reason and that the employer intentionally discriminated
against the employee on the basis of race, color, sex, or national originBrady v. Office of
Sergeant at Arm$20 F.3d 490, 494 (D.C. Cir. 2008).

A Title VII plaintiff has the burden of proving that the defendant’s proffered non
discriminatory reason for the employment decisioraipretext. Morgan v. Fed. Home Loan
Mortgage Corp. 328 F.3d 647, 654 (D.C. Cir. 2003). This burden can bebsenter alia,
showing that the reason offered by the defendant is false, or by presentingragugfiadence to
permit a reasonable fafihder to conclude that the employer's proffered explanation is
“unworthy of credence.” Beyah v. Dodarp666 F. Supp. 2d 24, 32 (D.D.C. 2009) (citing
Montgomery v. Chaob46 F.3d 703, 707 (D.C. Cir. 2008) abdsmond v. Mukaseg$30 F.3d
944, 962 (D.C. Cir. 2008)). A plaintiff may also “produce evidence suggesting that theyempl
treated other employees . . . more favorably engame factual circumstances. .” Brady, 520

F.3d at 495. However, when the employgrrefferedexplanation is reasonable in the light of
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the evidence, “there ordinarily is no basis for permitting a jury to concladehte employer is
lying about the underlying facts, and summary judgment is approprigdeyah 666 F. Supp. 2d
at 32 (citations and quotations omitted).

2. Exhaustion of administrative remedies

A federal employee who believes that her agency discriminated tlgama violation of
Title VIl must seek administrative adjudication of her claim before filing suit in d&&dewurt.
Payne v. Salaza619 F.3d 56, 65 (D.C. Cir. 201®ee42 U.S.C. § 200046(c). “A party must
exhaust [her] administrative remedies within the Title VIl tations period for each discrete act
of discrimination alleged or lose the ability to recover for itipscomb v. Winter577 F. Supp.
2d 258, 271 (D.D.C. 2008) (citingat’'l R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Morgas36 U.S. 101, 114
115 (2003).

The EEOChas promulgated regulations that reqaifederal employee to first contact an
EEO counselor to try to informally resolve the matter, and the employeedmgst “within 45
days of the date of the matter alleged to be discriminatory . . . .” 29 C.A&L48105(a)(1).
After this initial EEO contact, the employee must file an administrative complaint with her
agency.ld. 8 1614.106(a). The agency then conducts an investigation;ireuested by the
employee—the matter is referred to an EEOC adntnaisve judge for a hearing.ld. 88
1614.106(e)(2), 1614.1689. After the agency investigation, or decision of the EEOC
administrative judge, the employing agency must take “final actidd.”§8 1614.110. At that
point an employee may appeal to the EEOC, or file suit in federal court pursuantis.@€2 §
2000e16(c). In cases where no “final action” is taken within 180 days after thg of the
charge with the EEOC, an aggrieved federal employee may file a lawsaddraf court.Id.;

Murthyv. Vilsack 609 F.3d 460, 464 (D.C. Cir. 2010).

10



B. Analysis

The Secretary of the Army, defendant in this case, moves for summary jutdgymed| of
Dr. Beaver’s claims, arguing that her dero&draining claim should be dismissed for failure to
exhaust administrative remedies, and that both of her discrimination claims shouthizsei
because Dr. Beaver has failed to rebut his proffer that the Army’s actiongdt®waBeaver
were taken fora legitimate, nordiscrimiratory reason Def.’s Mot. Summ. J. [22] 1. Dr.
Beaver moves for summary judgment only om dlaim for discriminatory denial of training,
arguing that the Army has discriminatory policy of prohibiting English language training to
non-native speakers of English. Pl.’s Crddet. Summ. J. [241] 2. The Court will discuss
these and other arguments in the analysis that follows.

1. Count I: Discriminatory Denial of Training

Dr. Beaver's deniabf-training claim will be dismissed for failure to exhaust
administrative remedies.Her formal complaint of discrimination, filed with the Department of
the Army on March 12, 2008, onhaised asingle charge of discriminatory terminatipeven
though the form included a “training” box that could have been easily chetkbg the EEO
counglor at that time Def.’s Ex. 18 at 4. Nor does any other part of the complaint suggest that
Dr. Beaver intended to bring a claim for discriminatory denial of trainifigr explanatory
commentsin the complaint(where she explained why she believd@te was discriminated
againstfocusedexclusively on her terminatigsaying nothingabouttraining requestslid. at 1-
2. Federal lawrequiresan EEO complaint to contaimter alia, a statement “sufficiently precise
. . . to describe generally the action(s) or practice(s) that form the basis cantipdaint.” 29
C.F.R. 8 1614.106(c). Even when construed liberally as is required by the D.C. Geeuit,
Adams v.Rice 531 F.3d 936, 953 (D.C. Cir. 200&)r. Beaver’'s complaint provides nothing

indicating that she believed that defendardlgeged denial of her training requestwas
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discriminatory and thegfore nothing that puthe Secretary on notice that veould have to
defendhimselfagainst such elaim. Therefore Dr. Beaver’s complaint in this Court contains an
unexhausted claim for denial of training.

In response, Dr. Beaveaysthat the “training” box on her compid was left unchecked
dueto the EEO officer's mistake Pl.'s Mem. Opp’n [24] 33.In a supplementary affidawit
created after she was notified that defendant would challenge Count | of hemicdnopl
exhaustion groundsDr. Beaver statefor the first timethat she “never sdthe last page ahe
EEO comphintthat she signetj u]ntil the factfinding conferencé, Beaver Supp. Decl. [240]
115, and therefore could not have corrected the alleged eHowever,even creditingthis
suspiciously timed uncorroborated,and conspicuouslyselfserving assertip Dr. Beaver
provides no explanation for why she did not amend her complaiatid@ deniatof-training
claimwhen she noticed the EEO officet’srror;’ as she is permitted to do “at any time ptmr
the conclusion of the investigation.” 29 C.F.R1L&l4.106(d). Courts have generally held that
when a complainant fails to respond to the EEO officer’s framing of the issues eomplaint,
the complainant has failed to exhaust his or her administrative remediesesyg#ct to claims
not approved by the EECSee McKeithan v. BoarmaNo. 120086, 2011 WL 3611391, at *3
(D.D.C. Aug. 17, 2011) (collecting cases).

Dr. Beaver also argues that her dewftraining claim was effectively exhausted
because “the claim was investigated” at the agency I&et, Mem. Opp’n [24] 34put the
evidence cited is inadequate to supguwr argument For example, sh@oints toa document
thatshe createdndpresentedo the investigator before the fdotding conferencgin which she
refers tothe training issue Id. (citing Pl.’'s Ex. H [248] 1). However, that document, like her
EEO complaint, doesn’t indicatihat she felt that defendant’'s denial of her request for an

extension of her probatiany period so that she could take an English ¢lags discriminatory
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and that she would seek recovery for this allegedly discriminatory act; the docunstean
focuses upon the grounds toer belief that heterminationwas discriminatory.SeePl.’s Ex. H
[24-8] 1. It is therefore not a surprisgiven Dr. Beaver's complaint and this documdmat the
investigator’'sfocusduring the facfinding conferencavassolely on heclaim for discriminatory
termination,as the transcript othat conferenceshows: “I'm still here to investigate national
origin, why the Complainant was terminated or why she resigned. That's what tavhear.”
Def.’s Ex. 19 at 117.

Dr. Beaver isright to the extent that she is arguing that the-facting conference
touched upon th&aining topicon at least two ocsons. Seeid. at 100, 114.But manytopics
were touched upon during that conferenddnlike thetopic of her termination, none of these
topics were discussed as discrete wrongs for which Dr. Beaught recoveryWhile theD.C.
Circuit has held that theelevant inquiry concern$iot whether the complainant filed a detailed
statement” butvhether the actions taken were “adequate to put the [agency] on’hBtioen v.
Marsh, 777 F.2d 8, 13 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted), D
Beaver has presented no evidence showing ahaaim for denial of trainingwas actually
brought to the agency’s attention during the administrative proceeditinger in her formal
complaint or in subsequent proceedindd. These facts compel tr@nclusion that her claim
for discriminatory denial of training must be dismissed for failure to exhadministrative
remedies.

Nor is Dr. Beaver’s claim for discriminatory denial of training “like or readuy related
to” the allegatiorof discriminatory termination iher agency complairgnd growing out othat
allegation See Park v. Howard Univ71 F.3d 904, 907 (D.C. Cir. 1995§iven the complete
absence of any references to a training claim in her complaint, or armyyagsddacts, such a

claim could not arise from the administrative investigation that could “reblsolpa expected to
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follow the charge of discrimination.’ld. This conclusion is buttressed by the fact thating
the actualinvestigation that followed Dr. Beaver&lministrativecomplaint, as indicated by the
materials in the record, the exclusive issue was her claim forrdigatory termination. This
also disposes of Dr. Beaver’'s argument that defendant waiveextiasistiordefense, sincthe
Secretarycould not be expected to raise any defense to claims that plaintiff did not bthey at
agency level. Dr. Beaver has not demonstrated her entitlement to applicatiosn eduhable
doctrine.

Therefore, for the reasons stated abals#endant’s Motion for Sumany Judgment will
be granted as to Count | of plaintiff's Complaint, and plaintiffs Gidsgion for Partial
Summary Judgment, which moves for summary judgment only as to Count I, will be denied.

2. Count II: Discriminatory Discharge

The Secretarglso moes for summary judgment as to Count Itloé Complaint,which
alleges thatefendantdiscriminated againdDr. Beaveron the basis of her national origin by
removing her from federal service without “adequately determining whether d&enem of
speaking, or her linguistic characteristics, materially interfered withjdterperformance.”
Compl. [1] 44. In support ohis motion,the Secretaryhas proffereda legitimate, non
discriminatory reason for Dr. Beaver’s termination: a series of reports “a wide variety of
employees” indicating that Dr. Beaveachsignifiant difficulties communicating in English “as
an instructor, a consultant[,] and a presenter at meetings.” Def.’s Mot. Surf#1] 25. In
sum, the Secretary argues that these basic communication problems, rather Gaméss
national origin, ledo Dr. Beaver’s dismissal.

Since the Secretary hasepented a legitimate, nalscriminatory reason for Dr.
Beaver’'s termination, th®.C. Circuit’'s decision irBrady puts the burden on Dr. Beavey

show the Courevidencehat would be sufficient to convince a reasonable fluaythe Secretary
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is not presenting the actual reason for her terminationtretdlefendant’s actual reason vizas
Beaver'sChinese national originBrady, 520 F.3d at 494.

As an initial matter Dr. Beaver argues that shen’'t required to rebut defendant’s
proffered reasonbecause she has offered “direct evidence of national origin discrimination,”
Pl’s Mem. Opp’'n [24] 4, and sthe D.C. Circuit’'s decision iBrady and the burdeshifting
framework of McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greem1ll U.S 792 (1973) are inapplnta.
Instead, sheargues—citing a Ninth-Circuit case that is not binding on this Ceuithat the
burden is in fact orthe Secretaryo prove thatDr. Beaver's language problems materially
interfered with her job performance. Pl’s Mem. Opp’n [24] 2 (cifimggrante v. City and
County of Honolulu888 F.2d 591 (9th Cir. 1989)Dr. Beaverfurther argues that this issue of
“materiality” cannot be écided on summary judgmemtithout citing to any authorityld.

As so-called“direct” evidenceof national origin discriminatigrDr. Beaver points ther
own testimony, which statabat the reason for her termination was her “actes well as
correspondence from an employee of defendant’'s human resources department, ithehich
employee statethat Dr. Beaver’'s removal would be based upon “language barrier and accent
that limit [her ability to effectively carry out” her duties. Pl’s Mem. Opp’n [24] However
contrary to Dr. Beaver’'s assertions, this is not “direct” evidence of gis@tion. Evidence of
discrimination is “direct” when it would prove such discrimination if believed byrteeof fact.
See Spengler v. Worthington Cyclinge815 F.3d 481, 491 (6th Cir. 2010). However, when
evidence requires ather inference ora presumptionin orderto prove discrimination, it is
circumstantial. See Hollins v. Fulton Cty422 Fed. Appx. 828, 831 (11th Cir. 2014¢e also
Thomas v. Nat'l Football League Players Assi81 F.3d 198, 204 (D.C. Cir. 1997}t is
certainly true thataccent” and national origin are often intertwin€dagrante 888 F.2d at 596

andthe Court is cognizant of the fact that sommethicalemployers may a¢mpt to concedheir
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discriminatory actionsby referencing purported communication difficulties caused by an
employee’s accerds the “official” reason for an adverse employment acti®ae29 C.F.R. 8§
1606.6(b). Here however,theevidence offered by ID Beaver is not direct becauséaat finder
could not conclude that defendant discriminated against Dr. Beatheut alsopresuming that
defendant’s issue was naith how Dr. Beaver spoke buvith whereshe was from-namely,
China But afact finder could also presunmherwise inferring that defendant’s references to
Dr. Beaver's“accent and language difficultiegeflected a sincere belief that her English
language abilities wersimply below what was necessary for her positiocks aconsequence,
evidence referencindr. Beaver’s “accentand “language barriedsreasons for her termination
do notconstitutedirect evidence of discrimination on the basis of national origin; rather, such
evidence iircumstantial. Therefore the bure@n-shifting framework ofMcDonnell Douglasas
simplified byBrady, applies.

The cases Dr. Beaver citiEs the contrary positicr-namely, that references to “accent”
are direct evidence of discriminatierare inapposite SeePl.’s Mem. Opp’n [24] 4. For
example, thé&leventh Circuit’'s decision iAkouri v. Fla. Dep’t of Transp408 F.3d 1338 (11th
Cir. 2005)demonstrates the opposite of what Dr. Beaver contend&kaduri, the plaintiff was a
U.S. citizen born in Lebanon. Id. at 1342. While working for the Florida Department of
Transportation, he unsuccessfully applied for three promotions, and was told that he was not
selectedor a supervisory positiobecause the position “supervised white employees, as opposed
to black orHispanic employees, antat[the white employeeskould not take orders from him,
particularly if he had an accent.ld. While the word “accent” is admittedly present in this
statementthe obvious meaning dfis that the plaintiff was not of the right ethnicity to supervise
white employees-a direct statement about his ethnicity or national orignaleed, he Eleventh

Circuit, in concluding thathe plaintiff had provided “direct” evidence of discriminatictated
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that “only the mostblatant remarks, whose intent could meathing other tharo discriminate
on the basis of some impermissible factor” constituted direct evidence ofdnstion. Id. at
1347 (quotingRojas v. Florida 285 F.3d 1339, 1342 n(21th Cir. 2002) (emphasis added)t
concludedthat the plaintiff's evidence was direct becauséhtatantly state[d] that the reason
[plaintiff] was passed over for the promotion was his ethnicitgl.”at 1348. Here Dr. Beaver’'s
purported “direct” evidenceould indicate an intent very different from an intent to discriminate
against her on basis of her Chinese national origlnlike in Akouri, the evidence in this case
related to the termination decisiomkes no mention of her national origin or that of any other
DCI employee

Dr. Beaver arguesilternatively that shéhas meter burden undddrady andMcDonnell
Douglasbecause she has called into question “the genuineness oflaetfe stated reason for
theremoval . . . .” Pl’'s Mem. Opp’n [24] 5. In her Opposition, she provides a helpful list of
each of her arguments supporting her claim that the Secrefapffered non-discriminatory
reason is a pretextThe Court will now considerin turn, each ofthesearguments andhe
supporting evidence.

a. Purported paucity of reports of plaintiffs language problems and
inadequacy of defendant’s investigation

Dr. Beaver argues that defendant’s claim that she was terminated because of her
problems communicating ithe English language is pretext for discrimination because
“Colonel McQueen, whose own interaction with Dr. Beaver was very limited, remevdzhbed
upon two isolated complaints that were not investigatédl. at 31. The Court presumes that Dr.
Beaver is referring to complaints from Dr. Peterson and Dr. Klote, who complainedydicec
Colonel McQueen in November and December 2007 about Dr. Beaver's communication

problems. SeeDef.’s SMF [222] 1126, 3334. However, Dr. Beaver mischaracterizes these
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complaintswhen she calls them *“isolated,” and she provides no support for her claim that
Colonel McQueen’s decision to terminate her was based solely upon the casnpfabt.
Petrson and Dr. Klotegr upon an otherwise shoddy investigation.

The Secretaryhas provided abundant evidence that Colonel McQueen’s decision to
terminate D. Beaver was based on numerous mua@pendent complaints from DCI employees
and students in Dr. Bear’s classescombined withCoonel McQueen’s own observation of Dr.
Beaver's communication abilities The record shows that, in August 200, Chang who
reported to Colonel McQueeooncludedthat Dr. Beaver’s “[a]bility to teach and communicate
statstics to investigators” “[n]eeds practical assistance.” Pl’s SMF1[}113. Dr. Chang’s
conclusionswere confirmed by course evaluations submitted by Dr. Beaver’s stucdrdse
several students indicated that Dr. Beaver's communication abilities istenigth their ability
to learn. Def.’s SMF [222] 1128. In November 2007, Colonel McQueen personally attended one
of Dr. Beaver’s lectures to evaluate her language abilities himselfh@ could not understand
her. Id. §27.

The record also contains evidence that Dr. Beaver’'s difficulty speakingsEnghs
having an adverse effect on her consultation responsibilities. In October 2007, aigatwest
told Dr. Chang that she couldn’t understand Dr. Beaver, with the result that Dr. Cliabg ha
refer that investigator to another DCI statistician for the consultation thateaweBs position
required her to performld. §25. Dr. Chang received similar reports from other investigators
who reported that they couldn’t understand Dr. Beaver.J30. As a result, DCI'snly other
statisticiar—Robin Howard—saw her workload increase significantly, as investigators having
problems with Dr. Beaver sought consultations with Ms. Howard instiehd31. All of these

reports and Colonel McQueen'’s direct observation of Dr. Beaver's communication abigties, |
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to his decision to terminate her, without even mentioning the complaints from DisdPesad
Dr. Klote.

Dr. Beaver likewise mischaracterizes the evidence when she stdtésnllgeone of 50
medical researchers with whom Dr. Beaver consulted said that she could notamudéey
English” and that “only one of 35 students complaitied Dr. Beaver’s English was difficult to
understand.” Pl.’s Mem. Opp’'n [24] 31As statedabove, @fendant has offered evidence
showing that Dr. Chanigeceived reports indicating thiadultiple persons in need of consultations
with a statistician could not understand Dr. Beaver's Engl&de e.g, Def.’s SMF [222] 125,
30, 31. This evidergcis corrolrated by other persons, including Colonel McQueen and various
other doctors,who also could not understand Dr. Beaver. As to Dr. Beaver's student
evaluationsthere are no student evaluations for Dr. Beaver’'s July 2007 course, and so nothing
can be inferred one way or another. The course evaluations that do exist shatwehsitt four
students(more than 20%Xxtated either that she was a poor speakeat, she was difficult to
understand, or that her “accent, at times [] interfer[ed] with umgerstanding of the
information.” Id. 128. Furthermore, these studemws are corroborated by other evidence in
the record, providing no basis for a reasonable jury to infer that “too few” persons cwdplai
for defendant to bactually concerned that Dr. Beaver's communication abilities were below
what was required for her job. The number of complaints from various persons, whoedteract
with Dr. Beaver across the full range of her responsibilities as a statistrelader entirely
reasonable defendant’s contention that language problamisnationalorigin discriminatior—
led to her terminationSeeBeyah 666 F. Supp. 2d at 32.

In sum,Dr. Beaver hasot providedsufficientevidenceof a paucity of complainisor of

a shoddy inveggation to lead a reasonable jury to cdude that the legitimate reasoffered by
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defendants only a pretexand that the real reasdor her terminatiorwasdiscrimination based
on her Chines@ational origin. See Brady520 F.3d at 494.
b. The fact that Dr. Chang could understand Dr. Beaver’s English

Dr. Beaver alscarguesthat the fact that her supervisor, Dr. Changth whom she
interacted on a “daily basis,” Pl.'s Mem. Opp’n [24] 8buld understand her English indicates
that defendant's assertedsiification for her termination isa pretext for discrimination.
However, this fact neither suggests that defendant’s justifiices a pretext nor that defendard’
actual justification was discrimination based on national ori@in. Chang has testdd that the
fact that she is able to understand Dr. Beaver's Englisiotisecause Dr. Beaver’'s English is
adequatdor her joh but because Dr. Chang herself speaks Chinese, and so was able to “guess”
what Dr. Beaver was trying to communicate in English better than other DQbysap who
did not speak Chinese. Def.’s Ex. 19 at 148. Dr. Chang further testifiedettetiséoth of
them spoke Chinese, slowerlooled the problemshat Dr. Beaver's Englishanguage ability
was causingfor other DCI employees.ld. The merefact that another Chinespeaking
individual, with whom Dr. Beaver “daily” interacted, could “guess” at her mearsngot
probative of the adequacy bir. Beaver's Englishanguage communication abiliti@sross le
full range of her responsibilitiesDefendant is perfectly justified in seeking a level of English
speaking competence in its statistician candidatbst rises above a level sufficient for
communication with asingle Chinesespeakingsupervisor. While undoubtedly some DCI
employees could understand her and some chose to keep their views to themselvegaatsignif
number complainedAs defendant notes, “[t]here is no case law that suggests that [Dr. Beaver's]
coworkers had to be uniformly unabledomprehed her.” Def.’s Reply [32] 21.

In sum, the fact that Dr. Chang could understand Dr. Beavezventhat a subset of

employees could understand her while many others couldadt not lead a reasonable jury to
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conclude thatthe Secretarg proffered nordiscriminatory justification for Dr. Beaver's
termination isa pretext or thahe intentionally discriminated against hieased orher national
origin. See Brady520 F.3d at 494.

c. Whether plaintiff's job required that she be able to adeqgately communicate
in English

Dr. Beaver alsoargues that she has provide “ample evidence” that *“verbal
communication skills were relatively unimportant to the job” of statisticiBh's Mem. Opp’n
[24] 18. As an example of this evidencghepoints to an agency evaluation form, whislne
says lists “communication” last among five performance standards against which her
performance was to be meagiiréd. at 21 (citing Def.’s Ex. 12 at 55)However,Dr. Beaver’'s
characterization of this ewhce conspicuously obscurethe fact that “communicationis
expresslyisted as aperformance standaapplicableto her job. This suggests only thlsolute
importance of this ability, not its “relative[] unimportan[ce].” Als®r. Beaver’s
characteriation of this evidence requires a falpeesumption—ramely,that the listof standards
is ordered by level of importance, whighisn’'t. This evidenceonly supports thecontrary
conclusion—hamely, that “communication” was of significant importance by. Beaver’'s
statistician positiof.

Shealso supports hecounterintuitivecontention that communicating effectively was
“relatively unimportant” in her job with a “functional analysis” of her work. Pl."enM Opp’n
[24] 22. Based on her impression of how many consultations she performed (about 60 each
year) andthe averagealurationof such consultations (30 minutes), she estimates that verbal
communication was required for “no more than 30 hours,” which is “less than 4% of the time”

that she spent suppimrg DCI's researchersld. She also estimates thdtring her attendance at

° Dr. Beaver also claims (inaccurately) that this “communication” standaed dot focus on “the ability to
communicate verbally,d. at 21122, but it expressly states that she is expected to provide or exchange
“accurate/completeral . . . ideas and information . . . .” Def.'s Ex. 12 at 55 (emphasis added).
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nine meetingof the CIC, she spoke “for 1%0 minutes” per meeting, such that only three hours
of her time vere spentverbally communicatingvith the members othat committee Id. As to
classroom teaching, she estimates that only four hours of actual speatmgequired. Id.
Adding upthesediscreteinstanes of verbal communication (adsuming thaho other verbal
communication was requiredr. Beaver estimates thapaltry 2% of her time required verbal
communication.ld. at 22-23.

Certainly, all things being equal, a task consuming 2% of one’s time is mueh les
important than one that occupies 98% of one’s tirhat the evidence shows that all things are
not, in fact, equal. Dr. Beaver'$unctional analysi$ disregards the importance placed upon
verbal communication by the position description for her job, the standards governunafienal
of her performancehe legitimateexpectations othe people who hired and supervised, lasr
well asother evidence tending to shdhat effective communicatiowas a very important, and
required skill. Dr. Beaver'sposition description requires her to train and educate researchers, to
engage in consultations with reseansh and to communicate and interpret statistical results.
Def.’s Ex. 16 at 83, 8384. One of the express performance standards by which she was to be
judged was “communication.” Def.’s Ex. 12 at 55. The student evaluation forms for Dr.
Beaver's Novemér 2007 courseexpressly askedher students to rate her effectiveness as a
speaker. Seeg e.g, Def.’'s Ex. 10 at 39. The competency assessment form for her position
expressly asked her supervisor to rate her “[a]bility to teach and comneuhi€adf.’s Ex. 11 at
53. Colonel McQueerDr. Beaver's seconlgvel supervisorestified that Dr. Beaver's position
“required effective communication.” Def.’s Ex. 19 at 120. And so on.

Certainly firing someone for failing to do something that he or she wasaquted to do
could raise suspicions that reasons other than job performance were at wark, Bedver has

presented no evidence tending to show that the ability to communicate effectiveiglishE
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wasn’'trequired As suchshehas notproducedsufficient evidence for a reasonable jury to find
that defendant’s proffered and legitimate reason for her terminatam a pretext or that
defendant intentionally discriminated against her on the basis of her natiomal &egBrady,
520 F.3d at 494.

d. Allegedly nconsistent job evaluations

Dr. Beaveralso argueshat the fact that she “received’favorable job evaluatioanly
three months before she was terminated is evidence of pretext. Pl.’s ™min [24] 31.
However, that favorable evaluation of her work, whipgarently‘received” in September 2007,
evaluated her job performanta the first half of heprobationaryperiod, up to and including
July 31, 2007 Pl.’s Ex. C [243] 1. The competency assessment she received the very next
month, by contrast, stated thelteneeded “practical assistance” with respect to her “[a]bility to
teach and communicate statisticarteestigators.” Pl.’s SMF [210] 13. Therefore, while Dr.
Beaverwas rated favorablgarly on she received a less favorable reviewa later periodin a
review that specifically identified problems with her communmatand teaching abilitiesAs
such, this timing provides no basis for a reasonable jury to infedéfitdant’profferedreason
for Dr. Beaver’s terminatior-i.e.,, communication difficulties-was a pretext or that defendant
intentionally discriminated againseron the basis of her national origiGee Brady520 F.3d at
494,

Dr. Beaveralso argueshatdefendant offered a “demonstrably false” explanation for her
apparently positive review for the first half of her probationary period, and thasubgests
pretext Pl’s Mem. Opp’n [24] 31. Turning to that review, on the second page it contains five
possible performance ratinggith the following descriptors(1) “Excellence, 75% or More
Obj[ectives]; (2) “Excellence, 254% Obj[ectives]”; (3) “Success All or Excellence;28%

Obj[ectives]”; (4) “Needs Improvement, 1 or More Obj[ectives]’; and “@gils 1 or More
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Obj[ectives].” Pl.’s Ex. C [24] 2. Dr. Chang rated Dr. Beaver’s performance to be the second
highest: “Excellence, 254% Obj[ectives].” Id. Howewr, at the faefinding conference,
Colonel McQueen testified thétis “would not be seen as a particularly promising evaluation.”
Def.’s Ex. 19 at 122.Dr. Beaver says that thtestimony is‘demonstrably false,but she does

not demonstrate that is false As is appropriate on summary judgment, the Court gives Dr.
Beaver the benefit of an inference that her rating was a good rating even withind2€d, it is

hard to see how a ratirybbed‘excellence”could constituteanything other than a vepositive

rating. But, even with the benefit of this inference, this apparent inconsistency between her
rating in that evaluation and Colonel McQueen’s characterization of it in bimoay is simply

not probativeof the key issuedefendant’s thinking when it came to determining that Dr. Beaver
should be terminated. Dr. Beaver cannot avoid summary judgment just by pointing to some
appareninconsistencyetweerthe testimony of a defense witnessl other eviden¢she must

show hat thisspecificinconsistency could give rise to a reasonable inference that defendant’s
proffered nordiscriminatory reason for her termination waspretext and that she was
discriminated against on the basis of her national ori§ee Hayes v. Sehed, 762 F. Supp. 2d

90, 107 (D.D.C. 2011 kee also Brady520 F.3d at 494This isolated inconsistency, particularly

in light of the substantial support in the record for defendant’'s cooretitat Dr. Beaver’'s
problems communicating in Engliskand nother national origir-formed the basis for her
termination is insufficient for Dr. Beaver to avoid summary judgment.

e. Defendant's alleged failure to provide plaintiff with notice that her
communication difficulties could lead to termination

Dr. Beaver alsoclaims that a reasonable jury could infer pretext and inteadtion

discrimination because “before January 4, 2008, no one at the agency infibrenethat
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deficient communication skills threatened her continued employment.” Plris. @@p’n [24]
31. Once again, Dr. Beaver fails to meet her burden.

As an initial matterthe record indicates that Dr. Beauarew well in advance of her
termination that her communication skills were a probleBhe disclosed this knowledgas
early as July 2007, when shamailed Dr. Chan@nd statedhat she was practicing hstatistics
course in advance with another DCI employee because her main concern was hér Englis
pronunciation. Def.’s SMF [22] {18. Dr. Beaveralsotestified that sheeceived the student
evaluatims for her November 2007 course, which includederal evaluations critical of her
communication abilitythat same month. Def.’s Ex. 19 at 104. This, and other, evidence in the
record suggests that January 4, 2008 was not the first time Dr. Beaver mghandgaregarding
her difficulty communicating in Englishnd that she had been fully aware of the problem for
months. Dr. Beaver, based on the evidence this Court hassseamect that she did not receive
a specific warnindpefore January 2008dicating that her continued employment with DCI was
coningent on improving her English; howevéine evidence indicates thahe knew it was a
problem, andsheshould have known that underperforming iy aequired area could affect her
prospects for @rmanent status with DCI Also, since Colonel McQueen did nabegin an
investigation concerning Dr. Beaver's communication abilities until Nove@®@7, only a few
months before her probationary period would end, defendant’'s apparent delay in directly
confronting Dr. Beaver about her communication problesneot suspicious, androvides no
basis for a reasonable jury to believe that some reaib@n thanher communication problems
in fact motivated the termination decision, or that thithef reason was prohibited
discrimination See Brady520 F.3d at 494.

Dr. Beaveralso argues that a reasonable jury could find pretext based on defendant’s

alleged failure to follow its own rules and practices by not providing Dr. Beane adequate
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notice of hemperformance deficiencies and by providing her with an opportunity to correct those
deficiencies. Pl.’s Mem. Opp’n [24] 32. As far as her contention that defendantquasddo
extend her probationary period so that she could improve her English, the relevantomgulati
indicate the contrary, as is disceddelow. Regarding the notice Dr. Beawleges that she
was entitled to receiveshe points to no rules, regulations, or other laws that defeatiegéedly
violated, and does not explain hoany such inconsistenciexould lead a reasonable jury to
conclude that defendant’s proffered rdiscriminatory reason for her termination was a pretext
and that it intentionally discriminated against her.

f. Defendant’s refusal to extend plaintiff's probationary period and to provide
her with English-language training

Dr. Beaver argues thaefendant’s refusal, in January 2008, to extend her probationary
period and failure to train her to speak English at the redjueeel of proficiencycould
convince a reasonable jury that defendapitsferednondiscriminatory reason ia pretextand
that defendant in fact intentionally discriminated against her based on her natigimal Bt.’s
Mem. Opp’'n [24] 32. HoweverDr. Beaver hadailed to demonstratdhat the applicable
regulations permitted an extensidhat, if such an extension were availalsleg was eligibléor
it; or that others similarly situated to her received such an extensefendant citeso authority
indicating thatColonel McQueen lacked the power to ext®&rd Beaver'sprobationary period.
SeeDef.’s Mot. Summ. J. [24] 22. Civil service regulations state that the “probationary period
required by § 315.801 is 1 yeand may not be extended5 C.F.R. § 315.80Zemphasis
added). Dr. Beaver argues that defendant is misreading the relevant Nationaltys&eayri
System regulations, citing torale that she claims gives defendant “discretion” to extend her

probation period “up to an additional two years.” Pl.’s Mem. Opp’n [24] 36 (cibnger 5
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C.F.R. § 9901.512(af). However,the Courtfinds no support for Dr. Beaver's interpretation in
the language of theregulation. It states clearly that the Secretary “may establish initial
probationary periods of at leastygar, but not to exceed 3 years ..” Seeformer5 C.F.R. §
9901.512(a) This language says nothing about the authority of supervisorsxtend
probationary periods already set by the Secret&men the Secretary’s discretion to smtger
probationary periodss limited to “‘categories of positionsr types of workhat require a longer
time period to evaluate the employee’s ability to perform the workl’ (emphasis added).
Thus, contrary to Dr. Beaver’'s interpretation, no consideration of an individuabyse(d
circumstances is referenced in #pplicableregulations.

In sum, Dr. Beaver has provided no argumentevidencechallenging defendant’s
appraisal of its options following her request for an extension, anéghétory restrictionthat
defendant points taorroborateColonel McQueen’s testimony that he did not extend her
probationary period because believed hdacked the authority to do sdSeeDef.’s Ex. 19 at
128-29.

g. Alleged dissent of defendant’s human resourcegepartment regarding the
termination decision

Dr. Beaver also claims that a reasonable jury could conclude that heultiffi
communicating in English was not the real reafsorher terminatiorbecause “the agency’s own
HR representatives seriously questioned the legitimacy of removal.” Rirs. Kdpp’'n [24] 32.
Again, plaintiff mischaracterizes the evidencés to an e-mail chain, summarized in her
Opposition,id. at 12-13, in which humaiesources personnel discussed issues related to her
communication problems, no reasonable jury could interpret thadileto represent evidence

that humarresources employséseriously questioned the legitimacy of removal” or that any of

* Dr. Beaver actually cites to 5 C.F.R. § 9901.412(a), not § 9901.512¢ainbe the section she cites does not
concern probationary employees, the Court assumes Dr. Beaver’s citatitypagraphical error.
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those employees opposed Colonel McQueen's decisigkewise, Dr. Beaver chersgicks a
couple of sentencdsom an email written by humanesources employee Ervin Henderson in a
manner that obscures the fact that, in asking for changes to a paragraph nmnatitar
menorandum, Mr. Henderson was not “seriously questioning the legitimacy of rénmmtal
simply proposing improvements to the termination lett8eePl.’s Ex. F [246] 1. In short, Dr.
Beaver’'sclaim of humarresources opposition to her termination is wholly without foundation in
the record.
IV.  CONCLUSION

In summary, plaintiff's claim for discriminatory denial of training will be dismissad f
failure to exhaust administrative remedies, and her claim for discriminatomnéion will be
dismissed for failure to produce sufficient evidence for a reasopapl® find that defendant’s
asserted nodiscriminatory reason was not the actual reason and that it intentionally
discriminated against her on the basis of national ori§ee Brady520 F.3d at 494. Therefore
the Court will grant defendant’s Motio29] for Summary Judgment and deny plaintif€soss
Motion [21] for Summary Judgment.

A separate Order consistent with this Memorandum Opinion shall issue this date.

Signed by Royce C. Lamberth, Chief JudgeJanuaryd, 2012.
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